NO. 71304-3-I

DIVISION ONE
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.
DENNIS WATTERS, JR.
Appellant.
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNT
The Honorable Michael T. Downes, Judge
BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The court erred in failing to instruct the jury on a legally and factually available lesser included offense.
- 2. In the alternative, defense counsel was ineffective for failing to request the lesser included offense instruction.
- The court erred by conditionally vacating the appellant's first degree manslaughter conviction, which was charged as an alternative to a first degree murder charge.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- Where the appellant was charged with first degree murder by extreme indifference, did the trial court err when it failed to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of first degree manslaughter, which was both legally and factually warranted?
- 2. Was defense counsel ineffective for failing to alert the court to a change in the law affecting the ability of the lesser included offense?
- 3. Did the court err by conditionally vacating the appellant's first degree manslaughter conviction, which was charged as an alternative to first degree murder?

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹</u>

Charges, verdicts, and sentences

The State charged Dennis Watters, Jr. with first degree murder by extreme indifference² (count 1) and, in the alternative, second degree intentional murder³ (count 2) for shooting Ryan Mumm at Blue Stilly Park in Snohomish County. CP 192. The State also charged Watters with two counts of first degree assault (counts 3 and 4) based on allegations he followed and shot at the car in which Mumm and another man, Ethan Mathers, were riding. The State alleged firearm enhancements as to each count. CP 192-93.

Watters sought and received a "justifiable homicide" instruction as to counts 1 and 2. CP 74. Per agreement of the parties, the court also instructed the jury on lesser included offenses of first and second degree manslaughter as to count 2. CP 71-73. However, the court stated that, as

 $^{^1}$ This brief refers to the verbatim reports as follows: $1RP-10/4/13;\ 2RP-10/7/13;\ 3RP-10/8/13;\ 4RP-10/9/13$ (morning); 5RP-10/9/13 (afternoon); $6RP-10/10/13;\ 7RP-10/14/13;\ 8RP-10/16/13;\ 9RP-10/17/13;\ 10RP-10/18/13;\ 11RP-10/21/13;\ 12RP-10/22/13;\ 13RP-10/23/13;\ 14RP-10/24/13;\ 15RP-10/25/13;\ 16RP-10/28,\ 10/29,\ 10/30/2013;\ and\ 17RP-12/16/13.$

² RCW 9A.32.030(1)(b).

³ RCW 9A.32.050(1)(a).

a matter of law, a lesser manslaughter instruction was not available as to count 1. 2RP 16-17.

A jury found Watters guilty of the lesser included offense of first degree manslaughter as to count 2 but otherwise convicted him as charged. CP 41-53.

The court sentenced Watters to consecutive standard range sentences totaling 520 months plus 180 months of firearm enhancements. CP 20; see RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b) (calling for consecutive sentences for "two or more serious violent offenses arising from separate and distinct criminal conduct"). The court also entered an order dismissing count 2 "subject to reinstatement" if count 1 were reversed on appeal. CP 28.

Watters timely appeals. CP 5-16.

2. Trial testimony

Ethan Mathers was 21 years old on July 14, 2012. 10RP 11. He spent the day with 20-year-old Mumm, a longtime friend. 8RP 23; 10RP 14, 75. Mumm had moved away from Snohomish County but was staying with the Christensen family in Lakewood for a few weeks. 10RP 14; 11RP 179. Most of the family was camping over the weekend, but 19-year-old Randy Christensen, a friend of Mumm and Mathers, remained in town. 11RP 181; 15RP 107. The family owned a number of guns which they stored in a locked gun safe. 11RP 179.

That afternoon, Mathers, who was driving a red BMW sedan, picked up Mumm at the Christensen home and drove to the Safeway in Arlington. 10RP 15; 10RP 144-45. Both Mathers and Mumm were heavy drug users and had already used Xanax and heroin that day. 10RP 16, 75-76, 81, 110.

At Safeway, three people in a Volkswagen Jetta offered to sell Mathers a small amount of marijuana. 10RP 16-17. Mathers recognized one of the three as Zachary Smoots. 10RP 16. Mathers took the marijuana but drove off without paying. 10RP 17. Smoots gave chase but Mathers lost Smoots's Jetta in the parking lot. 10RP 17. According to Smoots, he tried to hang onto the window of the BMW but was punched in the face and had to let go. 11RP 30, 70.

Mathers testified that after leaving Safeway he, Mumm, and another friend drove to Blue Stilly Park in unincorporated Snohomish County near Arlington and smoked the marijuana. 10RP 17. Later, after Mathers and Mumm had dropped off the friend in Arlington, the Jetta pulled into traffic behind Mathers's BMW and blocked them in on a dead end road. 10RP 18.

According to Mathers, three men, including Smoots, and a woman, armed with weapons including brass knuckles and a pipe, approached Mathers and Mumm. 10RP 19. Mathers punched Smoots and got in his

car to escape. But the driver's window of the BMW had been shattered in the fray, so Mathers removed it and threw it at Smoots's Jetta. 10RP 20. As Mathers was wrestling with the window, the woman, later identified as Brittany Glass, approached Mathers and began kicking his car. 10RP 20-21, 94; 11RP 71. Mathers warned Brittany to back off. When she did not, he kicked her and then sped off with Mumm. 10RP 20.

Smoots acknowledged the two groups fought and provided additional details. Mathers punched Smoots, who was briefly knocked unconscious. 11RP 32, 38, 73. When Smoots regained consciousness, Mathers was fighting with Bo Schemenauer, part of Smoots's group. 11RP 38. According to Smoots, the fight ended when Mathers and Mumm threw broken glass at Smoots's car and drove away. 10RP 38-39.

After the fight, Mathers became upset that the fight had been unfair. He was also angry that his car had been damaged. 10RP 22, 96. After obtaining Smoots's phone number through mutual acquaintances, 10RP 103, 145, he called and threatened to render Smoots paraplegic and damage his car. Mathers urged Smoots to meet him at Blue Stilly Park to settle the score. 11RP 39, 75.

Smoots was fearful. 11RP 75-76. He told Mathers he and Bo did not want to fight and, at Bo's father's suggestion, offered to pay for the

damage to Mathers's car window. 11RP 48, 76; 15RP 59, 78, 94. Mathers, however, insisted on fighting. 11RP 40, 48.

Smoots did not contact anyone but thought Brittany contacted her father, James Glass, about Mathers's threats. 11RP 40. Bo contacted his father, Ron Schemenauer. 11RP 41, 76. Both men later participated in the row at the park.

Meanwhile, Mathers and Mumm returned to the Christensens' home to collect weapons, including a gun, and to use drugs. 10RP 25-26, 10RP 85-86; 11RP 183; 15RP 110. At trial, Mathers claimed he was unaware Mumm had obtained a gun because he was busy stealing a computer monitor he planned to sell to support his drug habit. 10RP 25, 27, 99. Other witnesses belied this claim. Randy Christensen testified he urged Mumm and Mathers not to take his father's new 9-mm pistol and suggested they borrow a BB gun instead. Nonetheless, Mathers obtained the gun safe key from Randy's brother's room and got into the safe. 15RP 120, 123, 134; see also 13RP 13-15 (additional testimony).

Before leaving the house, Mumm told Randy he wanted to finish what was started and "beat some ass." 15RP 132.

Mathers and Mumm rendezvoused with friends Josh Hogan, Ryland Ford, and Matt Stein at a smoke shop near the intersection of Highway 530 and 27th Avenue Northeast, which was the single access

road to the park. 10RP 27. Mumm rode with Mathers, while Hogan and the others drove in Hogan's black Pontiac Bonneville. 10RP 31-32. At the park, Mathers parked his car facing the exit and waited for Smoots's group to arrive. 10RP 32. Mathers grew impatient and was about to leave when a man standing nearby said, "hold on a second." 10RP 33; 12RP 87.

According to Smoots, a group of about 10 people in various cars met at the Arlington Safeway and then went to the park to look for Mumm and Mathers, who had not yet arrived. 11RP 43; 12RP 16-17. Some of the group then remained at the park, while others went to wait at a nearby Tesoro gas station on Highway 530. 11RP 46-47; 12RP 17, 59, 63, 85. The latter group, which included Smoots, Bo, Bo's father Ron, James Glass, and Watters, returned to the park after receiving a message that Mathers's BMW had arrived. 11RP 46-47; 12RP 25, 59, 139. Smoots rode with Bo and Ron in their Honda. 11RP 50, 80-81.

Mathers testified the Honda sedan drove into the park and struck the front bumper of the BMW. 10RP 33; 13RP 18. At the same time, Watters's blue Ford Ranger pulled in at an angle and stopped with his passenger side window facing Mathers's front passenger window. 10RP 33, 37; see also 13RP 18 (Josh Hogan testimony), 13RP 144 (Kristofer Struhs testimony).

According to Mathers, as the Honda was approaching the BMW, Mumm got out and fired a shot into the air. 10RP 34-35. Mumm reentered the BMW and was placing the gun on the floorboard when a gunshot from the Ranger struck him in the temple. 10RP 34, 36, 58. Mumm never regained consciousness. 10RP 38, 42. The driver of the Ranger fired a total of two or three times. 10RP 36-37. Mathers did not get a good look at the driver because he was preoccupied with trying to steer, shift, and keep the unconscious Mumm from falling across the gearshift. 10RP 38.

Mathers initially told police he did not see the shooter or the gun, although he had changed his story by the time of trial and claimed the man "looked him in the face." 10RP 36, 125-27. Other witnesses described a confusing scenario surrounding the gunshots. Hogan, the driver of the Bonneville, believed someone in the Honda was shooting. 13RP 38-39. Kristofer Struhs, who was at the park but was unaffiliated with either group, testified that besides Mumm, the only person with a gun was the driver of a Ford Expedition. 13RP 161. Cameron Haskett, part of Smoots's group, saw shots coming from both the BMW and the Ranger as

⁴ Contrary to the testimony of multiple witnesses, Mathers denied that Mumm pointed the gun at the occupants of the Honda or other affiliated vehicles. 10RP 112.

he drove away. 13RP 19-20. Ron Schemenauer, the Honda driver, believed Mumm was firing out of the BMW. 5RP 71.

Mathers testified he put the BMW in reverse and then squeezed past the Ranger and Honda. 10RP 36; 13RP 25. But Mathers was having trouble driving, and Hogan's Bonneville passed him on 27th. 10RP 38-39. Mathers yelled that Mumm had been shot, and passenger Ryland Ford called 9-1-1. 13RP 26-27; 14RP 25-26.

As Mathers approached the stop sign at the corner of 27th and Highway 530, he noticed the blue Ranger was gaining on him. The Ranger followed as Mathers turned right onto Highway 530. 10RP 40. As Mathers turned into the lot of an Arco gas station, he felt gunshots strike the BMW, and he saw a gun pointed out the window of the Ranger as it drove by. 10RP 41.

After stopping in the lot, Mathers ran into the attached "AMPM" convenience store and asked the clerk to call 9-1-1. 10RP 43. After that, Mathers checked Mumm's pockets and the car for drugs. 10RP 115. He threw some marijuana in a nearby garbage can and a pen he had used to snort drugs on the ground. 10RP 43-44, 52-53. He then wrapped Mumm's gun in his t-shirt and threw it into the bushes behind the convenience store. 10RP 43.

Hogan's Bonneville pulled into the lot after Mathers. 13RP 28. Mathers and the group in the Bonneville agreed not to tell police about Mumm's gun. 10RP 57; 13RP 32, 35 (Josh Hogan's testimony). But an Arco security video obtained by police showed Mathers appearing to conceal items around the lot. 8RP 55-56, 87-88. Mathers eventually admitted that he threw the gun behind the building, where police later found it under a blackberry bush. 8RP 58-59; 9RP 42, 44, 50; 11RP 152, 164. At trial, Mathers acknowledged he was "in a haze" during the incident from the drugs he used that day. 10RP 86.

Mumm had a weak pulse but was still breathing after police arrived at the lot. 8RP 105-09. He died early the next morning. 8RP 24.

After the incident, Mathers's BMW had bullet holes in the front passenger side pillar, the metal under the driver's door, the rear passenger side window, and the rear driver's side door. 10RP 51; 11RP 92-93; 13RP 66-79. State ballistics expert Kathy Geil also discovered a bullet lodged between the rim and tire of the rear wheel on driver's side. 13RP 85. Geil opined that Watters's 9-mm pistol fired the bullet in the wheel. 14RP 116. She also opined that a bullet collected from Mumm's skull came from Watters's gun. 11RP 123; 14RP 69-77. The bullet was flattened consistent with having struck the BMW pillar. 14RP 124-25.

Police found a single shell casing at the park near some pieces of broken mirror. 11RP 99-100. Geil opined it was ejected from the Christensen gun. 14RP 115.

Smoots gave a different account of the events at the park. He and the Schemenauers drove toward the BMW and rammed it, pushing the BMW back five or ten feet. 11RP 49-50; 13RP 144. Mumm, armed with a gun, got out of the BMW, approached the driver's side of the Honda, cocked the gun, and pointed it at the occupants. 11RP 50; 13RP 149-50 (Struhs's testimony). According to another witness, the look on Mumm's face was frightening. 12RP 122.

Meanwhile, the other vehicles from the Tesoro arrived at the park. 11RP 51, 54; 13RP 149-50 (Struhs testimony). Mumm stepped back from the Honda, fired a few shots into the air, then pointed the gun downward. 11RP 51, 83. Smoots heard but did not see additional shots. 11RP 51, 52, 55. After the Honda backed up, the red BMW sped out of the park. 11RP 52, 56. As it did so, James Glass fired a shot at it. 11RP 52.

Smoots recalled seeing a blue Ford Ranger in the park, but did not recall its location. 11RP 52, 78-79. The Honda was the last car out of the park and Smoots did not see which way the BMW went on Highway 530. 11RP 56-57.

Watters's friend James Glass was on his way to a bonfire in Granite Falls when he received a tearful call from his daughter Brittany. 12RP 7, 55. Brittany told her father that her friends had sold marijuana to some men, who drove away without paying, and she was assaulted during a later confrontation with the men. 12RP 12. Brittany also said Mathers had threatened to cripple Smoots. As a result, Glass feared that Mathers and Mumm had guns. 12RP 14.

Glass, who was driving a green Ford Expedition, had his revolver with him when he got the call because he planned to target-shoot at the bonfire. 12RP 13, 48. Glass called his friend Watters because he knew Watters had a concealed weapons permit and usually carried a gun. 12RP 15, 59. Watters, however, said he did not want to get involved. Glass was therefore surprised when Watters arrived at the Tesoro. 12RP 15-16, 56, 60. Watters was the last to arrive before the convoy left for the park. 12RP 115.

Glass arrived at the park behind the Honda and Watters's Ranger.

12RP 26-27. Two other vehicles from the Tesoro, driven by Cameron

Haskett and Brandon Wiede, arrived after Glass. 12RP 27, 140; 15RP 15

(Haskett testimony). Glass saw Mumm point a gun inside the Honda, then

⁵ Chelsea Albriktsen and boyfriend Cameron Haskett observed injuries to Brittany's face and torso. 12RP 101.

turn and point the gun at Watters's truck, which was parked close to the BMW. 12RP 28, 53-54, 70. Glass ducked behind his partly opened door and heard, but did not see, additional shots. 12RP 28, 31-32.

Afterward, Glass looked up and saw the BMW leaving the park at a high rate of speed. He pulled his gun from his center console and shot toward the car, planning to disable it. But he changed his mind at the last second and fired at the ground. 12RP 32-35. After the shooting stopped, all the vehicles attempted to leave the park at once. 12RP 35, 90.

On the way out of the park, Watters was initially behind Glass but passed him and pulled in behind the BMW. 12RP 38-39. On Highway 530, the BMW braked as it turned into the Arco lot. Watters's truck appeared to collide with the rear bumper of the BMW. 12RP 40. Glass and other witnesses then heard two to four gunshots. 12RP 41, 65; 14RP 139, 144, 145, 153. Another witness saw someone shooting from a blue truck. 14RP 153. Glass hid his revolver after the incident and tried to conceal his and Watters's involvement. 12RP 45-47, 68, 92.

Police arrested Watters four days after the incident and impounded the Ford Ranger. 12RP 171, 187. Policed discovered two bullet holes in the window frame of the passenger door. 12RP 188-89. Carly Denui, a state crime lab employee, testified the metal appeared to be pushed outward, and she therefore opined that a bullet had passed from the interior to the exterior of the truck. 13RP 93-94.

The passenger side mirror was also damaged. 13RP 93-94. Geil examined the mirror after police removed it from the Ranger and submitted to the crime lab. Geil believed a bullet passed from the glass side to plastic side, or from the back to the front of the truck, provided that mirror was in its normal position at the time. 14RP 104.

Watters consented to a recorded interview with detectives. 12RP 172. A redacted version was played for the jury at trial. Ex. 199; 13RP 118. On July 14, Glass called Watters and said Brittany had been beaten up by some heroin addicts. Glass wanted to stand up to the men and needed backup. Glass did not mention there would be guns involved, but Watters was still reluctant to participate. Nonetheless, he drove to the Tesoro after Watters persuaded him help was needed and then drove to the park with the convoy. As Watters reached the park, the BMW drove toward him. The passenger pointed a gun at him through the windshield of the BMW, then reached out of the car and fired two rounds into the air. Ex. 199.

The BMW backed up, then drove past Watters's Ranger with the passenger side facing Watters's passenger side. He saw the BMW passenger fire at him as the BMW passed the Ranger. At that point,

Watters pulled out his gun and shot three rounds at the BMW passenger. Ex. 199.

Watters believed the BMW passenger was continuing to shoot at others as the car drove off, so he accelerated to catch the car and pulled behind it at the intersection of 27th and Highway 530. He denied shooting at the car on Highway 530. But, believing the occupants still posed a danger, Watters rammed the BMW with his truck and attempted to run it off the road. Ex. 199.

Watters admitted he should have called 9-1-1 after the incident but explained he was not thinking straight due to a surplus of adrenaline. Watters acknowledged it was possible he shot his own mirror but maintained the BMW passenger, Mumm, shot at him first. Ex. 199.

C. ARGUMENT

1. TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF FIRST DEGREE MANSLAUGHTER AS TO COUNT ONE.

The right to a lesser included instruction derives from statute.

RCW 10.61.006 states, "[T]he defendant may be found guilty of an offense the commission of which is necessarily included within that with which he or she is charged in the indictment or information." The remedy

for failure to give a lesser included instruction, when one is warranted, is reversal. State v. Ginn, 128 Wn. App. 872, 878, 117 P.3d 1155 (2005).

A defendant is entitled to an instruction of a lesser included offense if the two prongs of the State v. Workman test are satisfied. 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). Under the legal prong, each element of the lesser offense must be a necessary element of the charged offense. State v. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d 541, 545-46, 947 P.2d 700 (1997) (citing Workman, 90 Wn.2d at 447-48). Under the factual prong, the evidence presented in the case must support an inference that only the lesser offense was committed to the exclusion of the charged offense. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000).

When analyzing the factual prong, this Court reviews the evidence in the light most favorable to the party seeking the instruction. <u>Id</u>. at 455-56. "If the evidence would permit a jury to rationally find a defendant guilty of the lesser offense and acquit him of the greater, a lesser included offense instruction should be given." <u>Berlin</u>, 133 Wn.2d at 551 (citing <u>Beck v. Alabama</u>, 447 U.S. 625, 635, 100 S. Ct. 2382, 65 L. Ed. 2d 392 (1980)).

Here, the two crimes are first degree murder by extreme indifference and first degree manslaughter. First degree murder by extreme indifference requires proof that the defendant "(1) acted with

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