r{3 0 1-3 

NO. 71304-3-1 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DIVISION I 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent, 

v. 

DENNIS WATTERS, JR., 

Appellant. 

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT 

MARKK. ROE 
Prosecuting Attorney 

MARA J. ROZZANO 
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 
Attorney for Respondent 

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 
3000 Rockefeller Avenue, MIS #504 
Everett, Washington 98201 
Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

III. ARGUMENT 

A. THE COURT DID NOT ERR BY NOT SUA SPONTE 
INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE. 

The defendant assigns error to the trial court's failure to 

instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of first degree 

manslaughter on count 1. Defendant's Brief at 15. Neither party 

had requested a lesser included instruction for count one. 

Requiring a trial court providing lesser included instructions sua 
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sponte in the absence of a request has been rejected by our 

Supreme Court. "Such a rule would be an unjustified intrusion into 

the defense prerogative to determine strategy and, accordingly, we 

reject this requirement." State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 45, 246 

P.3d 1260, 1274 (2011). 

B. THE DEFENDANT HAS NOT SHOWN HE WAS DENIED HIS 
CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF 
COUNSEL BASED ON THE FAILURE TO REQUEST THE JURY 
BE INSTRUCTED ON THE LESSER OF MANSLAUGHTER IN 
THE FIRST DEGREE WITH REGARD TO FIRST DEGREE 
MURDER BY EXTREME INDIFFERENCE. 

1. Even If The Defendant Were Entitled To The Lesser 
Included Offense Of Manslaughter In The First Degree As 
Related To Count 1, There Was A Valid Tactical Reason Not To 
Request The Instruction. 

To prevail in a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the 

defendant must demonstrate that (1) defense counsel's 

representation was deficient, i.e., it fell below an objective standard 

of reasonableness based on consideration of all the 

circumstances; and (2) this deficient performance resulted in 

actual prejudice. State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77-78, 917 

P.2d 563 (1996); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 

S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Both "prongs" must be 

established to prevail on the claim. Under the latter prong, the 

defendant must show a reasonable probability that, except for 
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counsel's unprofessional errors, the results of the proceedings 

would have been different. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d at 78. 

Proving ineffective assistance of counsel, under the two

pronged Strickland rule of objectively poor performance and 

resulting actual prejudice, is not the same as second-guessing the 

acts or omissions of prior counsel with the luxury of hindsight. 

Strickland cautions reviewing courts not to succumb to the 

temptation of second-guessing defense counsel's particular acts or 

omissions. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. The threshold for the 

deficient performance prong is high, given the deference afforded 

to decisions of defense counsel in the course of representation. 

When counsel's conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial 

strategy or tactics, performance is not deficient. State v. Kyllo, 166 

Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). A court may not sustain a 

claim of ineffective assistance if there was a legitimate tactical 

reason for the allegedly incompetent act. State v. Garrett, 124 

Wn.2d 504, 520, 881 P.2d 185 (1994). An ineffective assistance 

claim on direct appeal must be based upon, and cannot go 

outside, the record before the appellate court. State v. McFarland, 

127 Wn.2d 322, 338, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). 
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To prevail on an ineffective assistance claim, a defendant 

alleging ineffective assistance must overcome a strong 

presumption that counsel's performance was reasonable. State v. 

Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 33, 246 P.3d 1260, 1268 (2011). A 

reviewing court "must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's 

conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional 

assistance." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. at 689. 

In the case at bar, the court instructed the jury on the crimes 

of count one: first degree murder by extreme indifference; count 2: 

second degree (intentional) murder; manslaughter first degree as a 

lesser included offense to court 2; and, manslaughter in the 

second degree; count 3: assault in the first degree; second degree 

assault as a lesser included offense of count 3; count 4: assault in 

the first degree; and, second degree assault as a lesser included 

offense of count 4. CP 69-73, 81-82, 86-87 (Jury Inst. 12-16, 24, 

25, 29, 30). The jury convicted the defendant of count 1: first 

degree murder; count 2: the lesser offense of manslaughter in the 

first degree; count 3: first degree assault and count 4 first degree 

assault and found the firearm enhancement for all 4 offenses. CP 

41-51 
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Under the facts and circumstances of this case as applied 

to the defendant's theory of the case, it was a very reasonable trial 

tactic to not request the lesser included offense of manslaughter in 

the first degree be given as related to count 1. The defendant was 

claiming self-defense. The testimony suggested the defendant 

intentionally shot at Mr. Mumm because Mr. Mumm pointed a gun 

at him. It would be legitimate tactic to present the jury with an "all 

or nothing" decision with regard to count 1 under the 

circumstances and provide them with a lesser as applied to the 

intentional murder. An all or nothing strategy was a legitimate trial 

strategy because inclusion of the lesser included offense would 

have weakened the defendant's claim of innocence. State v. 

Hassan, 151 Wn. App. 209, 221,211 P.3d 441 (2009). 

2. The Defendant Has Not Established That Any Alleged 
Deficient Performance Resulted In Actual Prejudice. 

"In making the determination as to whether the specified 

errors resulted in the required prejudice, a court should presume, 

absent challenge to the judgment on grounds of evidentiary 

insufficiency, that the judge or jury acted according to law." 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052.1I 60. The defendant 
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argues this court should assume that the jury did not hold the State 

to its burden in the absence of a lesser included offense instruction. 

The defendant relies on Keeble v. United States, for the 

premise that "Where one of the elements of the offense charged 

remains in doubt, but the defendant is plainly guilty of some 

offense, the jury is likely to resolve its doubts in favor of conviction." 

Keeble v. United States, 412 U.S. 205, 212-13, 93 S.Ct. 1993,36 

L.Ed.2d 844(1973}. Appellant's Brief at 26. Applied to ineffective 

assistance claims, Keeble skews the Strickland standard. In 

Strickland, the Court indicated that, "[i]n making the determination 

as to whether the specified errors resulted in the required prejudice, 

a court should presume, absent challenge to the judgment on 

grounds of evidentiary insufficiency, that the judge or jury acted 

according to law." State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 41, 246 P.3d 

1260,1272 (2011). 

Furthermore, that argument is misplaced under the facts of 

this case. The jury in this case was not placed in the position of 

having to convict the defendant of first degree murder to resolve its 

doubts, the jury had the ability to find the defendant guilty of "some 

offense" by the lesser included offenses provided under count 2. 

The defendant had the ability to take the all or nothing approach to 
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first degree murder with the safety net of manslaughter first degree 

being available to the jury should they have had any doubt. 

Assuring the jury would hold the state to its burden. 

If the jury is presumed to have followed the law when it 

would only have convicted the defendant of first degree murder 

where the State had proved each of the required elements beyond 

a reasonable doubt. Since the jury would only have considered the 

lesser included offense if it had not been able to find the State had 

proved each of the required elements of first degree murder beyond 

a reasonable doubt the absence of a manslaughter instruction had 

no impact on the verdict. Lesser included instructions instructed the 

jury not to consider the lesser charge if convinced beyond a 

reasonable doubt that [the defendant] was guilty of the greater. 

Because the jury returned a guilty verdict, we must presume that 

the jury found [the defendant] guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of 

second degree murder. State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 41, 246 P.3d 

1260, 1272-73 (2011). 

3. The Defendant Was Not Entitled To The Lesser Included 
Offense Of Manslaughter In The First Degree As Related To 
Count 1: First Degree Murder. 

The defendant was not prejudiced by his trial counsel's not 

requesting a lesser included instruction for count 1 because he was 
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not entitled to the lesser instruction. The right to instruct the jury on 

a lesser included offense is a statutory right. State v. Bowerman, 

115 Wn.2d 794,805,802 P.2d 116 (1990); RCW 10.61.003, 

10.61.006. Under the test enunciated by the Supreme Court in 

State v. Workman, a defendant is entitled to a lesser included 

offense instruction "if two conditions are met." 90 Wn.2d 443, 447, 

584 P.2d 382 (1978). First, under the legal prong of the test, each 

element of the lesser offense must be a necessary element of the 

charged offense. State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 83, 292 P.3d 715 

(2012). Second, under the factual prong, "the evidence must 

support an inference that the lesser crime was committed." Sublett, 

176 Wn.2d at 83. "[T]he factual test includes a requirement that 

there be a factual showing more particularized than that required 

for other jury instructions. Specifically, ... the evidence must raise 

an inference that only the lesser included/inferior degree offense 

was committed to the exclusion of the charged offense." State v. 

Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448,455,6 P.3d 1150 (2000). 

Here, the legal prong of the Workman test is satisfied. "The 

elements of first degree manslaughter are necessarily included in 

first degree murder by extreme indifference .... " State v. Pettus, 89 

Wn. App. 688, 700, 951 P.2d 284 (1998). 
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Under RCW 9A.32.060, first degree manslaughter requires 

proof that the defendant recklessly caused the death of another. 

RCW 9A.32.060(1 )(a). In contrast under RCW 9A.32.030(1 )(b), 

first degree murder by extreme indifference requires proof that the 

defendant "acted (1) with extreme indifference, an aggravated form 

of recklessness, which (2) created a grave risk of death to others, 

and (3) caused the death of a person." State v. Pastrana, 94 Wn. 

App. 463, 470, 972 P.2d 557 (1999). There is no dispute here that 

the firing of shots created a grave risk of death to others and that 

the shots caused the death of Mr. Mumm. Thus, the question is 

whether defendant can point to any evidence in this record that 

shows his acts were merely reckless. See, Pastrana, 94 Wn. App. 

at 471. 

Pastrana and Pettus are instructive. In both of these cases, 

the defendant was charged with first degree murder by extreme 

indifference. Pettus, 89 Wn. App at 691; Pastrana, 94 Wn. App. at 

467. This court held in both cases that the factual prong of the 

Workman test was not satisfied; therefore neither defendant was 

entitled to a lesser included instruction on first degree 

manslaughter. Pastrana, 94 Wn. App. at 471-72; Pettus, 89 Wn. 

App. at 700. 
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In Pettus, the defendant was convicted of first degree 

murder by extreme indifference after driving alongside the car of his 

victim and firing at it. 89 Wn. App. at 691-92. "The first shot hit the 

[victim's car] in front of the rear tire. The second shot hit [the victim] 

in the left arm and penetrated his chest. Two other shots passed 

nearby or through the windshield and exited through the plastic rear 

window." Pettus, 89 Wn. App. at 692. The court concluded that: 

[t]he evidence of the force of a .357 magnum, the time 
of day, the residential neighborhood, and Pettus's 
admitted inability to control the deadly weapon, 
particularly from a moving vehicle, does not support 
an inference that Pettus's conduct presented a 
substantial risk of some wrongful act instead of a 
"grave risk of death." 

Pettus, 89 Wn. App. at 700. 

In Pastrana, the defendant was driving on the interstate 

when another car cut in front of him. 94 Wn. App. at 469. 

Pastrana retrieved a gun from behind the seat[,] 
rolled down the passenger window and fired one shot 
out the window, directly in front of [the passenger's] 
face. 

After he fired the gun, [the passenger] asked 
Pastrana what he was thinking. Pastrana replied that 
he was aiming for a tire. [The passenger] mentioned 
that "it's kind of hard to be aiming at anything when 
you are going down the freeway that fast." 

Pastrana, 94 Wn. App. at 469. "[I]ndiscriminately shooting a 

gun from a moving vehicle is precisely the type of conduct 
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proscribed by RCW 9A.32.030(1 )(b)." Pastrana, 94 Wn. App. at 

471. 

As in Pastrana and Pettus, defendant's actions 

demonstrated not mere recklessness regarding human life but 

extreme indifference, an aggravated form of recklessness. 

Defendant shot at the victims from his vehicle in a situation where 

multiple people were in the area. Mr. Mathers was in direct line of 

the fire . The defendant's associates were also potential victims. It 

was a public park during normal hours of operation on a sunny 

summer evening. He rapidly fired multiple shots indiscriminately in 

the direction of the victim's vehicle. This conduct, when measured 

against Pettus and Pastrana, shows the defendant was not entitle 

to the lesser instruction with regard to this count. 

Defendant claims that Pettus and Pastrana have been 

abrogated by later cases. Specifically, defendant claims that State 

v. Gamble, 154 Wn.2d 457, 114 P.3d 646 (2005), and State v. 

Peters, 163 Wn. App. 836, 261 P .3d 199 (2011), undermine the 

reasoning behind the earlier cases. Defendant's reading of the 

more recent cases is incorrect. 

In Gamble, the Washington Supreme Court held that 

manslaughter was not a lesser included offense of second degree 
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, . 

felony murder where second degree assault was the predicate 

felony. 154 Wn.2d at 460. Washington courts have routinely held 

that manslaughter fails the legal prong of the Workman test. 

Gamble, 154 Wn.2d at 463-64. To prove felony murder, the State 

is required to prove the defendant intentionally assaulted another 

and recklessly inflicted bodily harm, whereas to prove 

manslaughter, the State is required to prove that the defendant 

recklessly caused the death of another person. Gamble, 154 

Wn.2d at 467. 

In Peters, this Court held that jury instructions which defined 

recklessness in the context of first degree manslaughter as "Peters 

knew of and disregarded a substantial risk that a wrongful act may 

occur," was contrary to the Supreme Court's analysis in Gamble. 

Peters, 163 Wn. App. at 849-50. The jury instruction should have 

defined recklessness as Peters knew of and disregarded "a 

substantial risk that death may occur." Peters, 163 Wn. App. at 

850. 

To support his position that Gamble and Peters abrogated 

Pettus and Pastrana, defendant focuses on one statement made in 

Pettus where that court was focused on the factual prong of 

Workman: "the evidence showed much more than mere reckless 
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· . 

conduct - a disregard of a substantial risk of causing a wrongful 

act." Pettus, 89 Wn. App. at 700. Defendant claims that Pettus has 

been overruled because Gamble and Peters both hold that the 

elements of manslaughter require the State to prove that the 

defendants knew of and disregarded a substantial risk that a 

homicide may occur." See, Gamble, 154 Wn.2d at 467. Yet 

neither Gamble nor Peters contained any discussion on the matter 

which was at issue in Pettus and Pastrana: whether manslaughter 

satisfies the factual prong of Workman so as to be considered a 

lesser included offense of first degree murder by extreme 

ind ifference. 

Neither Gamble nor Peters undermine this court's rulings in 

Pettus and Pastrana. In fact, both Pettus and Pastrana hold that, in 

the context of first degree murder by extreme indifference, first 

degree manslaughter does satisfy the legal prong of Workman. 

Pettus, 89 Wn. App. at 700; Pastana, 94 Wn. App. at 470-71. 

As noted above, the facts here do not support a rational 

inference that defendant committed only manslaughter in the first 

degree. Defendant did not fire into the air, or at the ground, or even 

toward an area he believed to be empty. Each of these situations 

might have supported a finding that defendant acted recklessly 
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· . 

when he knew of and disregarded that a substantial risk of death 

may occur. Instead, defendant fired several shots into the area of 

the victims' car. Defendant's conduct did not merely create an 

unreasonable risk of death, but created a very high degree of risk of 

death. Thus the evidence does not support a finding that only the 

lesser offense was committed to the exclusion of the greater 

offense. 

C. THE SENTENCING COURT ERRED BY ENTERING A 
SEPARATE ORDER CONDITIONALLY VACATING COUNT 2, 
THE FIRST DEGREE MANSLAUGHTER CONVICTION. 

The state concedes the sentencing court erred by entering a 

separate order dismissing count 2 subject to reinstatement on the 

same date the judgment and sentence was entered. The

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